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          2                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE:  Good morning.

          3                 I am Leroy Comrie, Chair of the

          4  Consumer Affairs Committee of the New York City

          5  Council.

          6                 I want to thank everyone for being

          7  here on this wonderful, warm morning to attend

          8  today's proceedings.

          9                 I just want to apologize.  We had a

         10   --  we are still having a Democratic Caucus

         11  meeting, and it's still going on; and there were a

         12  couple of items that I had to specifically address

         13  downstairs, and it just went a little long.

         14                 We are here today to listen to

         15  testimony concerning Introductory Bill 81 in

         16  relation to the Consumer Bill of Rights regarding

         17  tax preparers.

         18                 The Bill contains specific disclosure

         19  requirements for preparers offering Refund

         20  Anticipation Loans.  Refund Anticipation Loans, or

         21  RALs, as they are commonly referred to, seemingly

         22  provide fast and convenient cash for taxpayers

         23  expecting local and Federal tax refunds.

         24                 However, consumers ultimately pay for

         25  this convenience with hundreds of dollars in fees
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          2  that are equivalent to annual interest rates of

          3  between 40 and 700 percent.

          4                 These fees are particularly

          5  extraordinary when considering that the bank

          6  underwriting the loan, is essentially guaranteed

          7  prompt repayment.

          8                 In addition to being a bad deal for

          9  all consumers, there appears to be evidence that RAL

         10  services target and exploit certain income taxes.

         11  For example, last year, the Neighborhood Economic

         12  Development Advocacy Project, or NEDAP, reported

         13  that the 20 zip codes in New York City with the

         14  highest population of RALs, Refund Anticipation

         15  Loans, have a median household income of $20,500,

         16  far below the Citywide median income of $38,300.

         17                 Further, the Federal Reserve

         18  estimates that 22 percent of families who earn less

         19  than $25,000 per year, do not have bank accounts.

         20  For individuals maintaining bank accounts, RAL

         21  services are effectively useless due to free

         22  electronic tax filing services that allow direct

         23  deposits within two weeks of filing.

         24                 Equally disturbing, the NEDAP study

         25  noted that the highest percentage of RALs Citywide
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          2  are in neighborhoods that are 95 percent Black or

          3  Latino.  Because RALs are funded by banks, the

          4  lenders can import the usury limits of the state in

          5  which they are chartered; therefore, avoiding New

          6  York State's relatively low cap.

          7                 Tax preparers, therefore, act as

          8  intermediary loan brokers, even though a nationwide

          9  majority of RAL consumers are not even aware that

         10  the RALs are actually loans.  Further complicating

         11  the issue is the fact that some tax preparation

         12  firms hold a financial stake in the RALs they

         13  broker.  Intro. 81 amends the Administrative Code,

         14  and adds language to the existing mandatory

         15  disclosure for tax preparers.  The new tax requires

         16  that upon request, a consumer has the right to a

         17  written description of the RAL and tax services

         18  offered by the preparer, a written estimate of the

         19  cost of the RAL and tax services, and interest rate

         20  estimate for the RAL, and a written estimate of the

         21  period of time a consumer can reasonably expect to

         22  wait for his or her tax refund.

         23                 The Bill would also clarify the

         24  responsibilities of the Department of Consumer

         25  Affairs, with respect to providing the Consumers'
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          2  Bill of Rights, to any taxpayer or business that

          3  requests it.

          4                 Tax preparers would also be

          5  responsible for obtaining a copy of the Consumer

          6  Bill of Rights, and providing a free copy to a

          7  client, prior to any tax related discussions.

          8                 Tax preparers would be further

          9  required to request a consumers review to Consumer

         10  Bill of Rights and answer any questions regarding

         11  its contents.

         12                 The Committee has invited the New

         13  York City Department of Consumer Affairs, various

         14  consumer and legal advocates, tax preparation

         15  companies, and other industry representatives, as

         16  well as interested parties.  We look forward to

         17  hearing from all witnesses on this proposal.

         18                 Again, I'd like to just inform the

         19  public here that Council Member Gennaro is holding a

         20  Committee right next door. Council Member Liu and

         21  Council Member Koppell are downstairs at the other

         22  meeting.

         23                 So, at this time, I'd like to ask the

         24  Department of Consumer Affairs to come to the table.

         25
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          2                 I want to thank Commissioner Mintz

          3  and his staff for being here. I want to thank my

          4  staff, Thomas Ferrugia, Brian Sogol, Shadawn Smith.

          5  I want to thank Guy Cohen from my office, who has

          6  done a lot of research on consumer affairs issues,

          7  and also, I hope that, and I'm sure that the

          8  Commissioner is going to talk about the Earned

          9  Income Tax Credit program at this time, because most

         10  people in the City that are a family of four making

         11  under $40,000 a year, can get free tax preparation

         12  services due to the City's program.

         13                 So, with that, I'll turn the floor

         14  over to Commissioner Mintz.

         15                 Again, thank you for being here this

         16  morning.

         17                 COMMISSIONER MINTZ:  Thank you.

         18  We're going to make you our spokesperson.

         19                 Good morning, Chairman Comrie, and

         20  staff.

         21                 I'm Jonathan Mintz, Commissioner of

         22  the Department of Consumer Affairs.

         23                 I really do appreciate the

         24  opportunity to appear before you to comment on

         25  Intro. 81.  As you all know, the Department has
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          2  taken a keen and an aggressive interest in

          3  monitoring Refund Anticipation Loans, or "RALs".

          4  DCA's groundbreaking litigation and enforcement

          5  work, along with constructive Council Legislation

          6  like Intro. 81, make a real difference and serves,

          7  in many cases, actually, as a national model for

          8  fair and accurate disclosures in this industry.

          9                 Before commenting on the particulars

         10  of the Bill, I'd just like to take a moment to put

         11  the issues into some historical perspective, to

         12  better understand how this City can empower

         13  consumers to make the best financial decisions when

         14  it comes to tax preparation services.

         15                 Refund Anticipation Loans first came

         16  on to the scene in the early 1990s, when they were

         17  variously described, packaged, and sold to consumers

         18  as "fast", or "rapid" refunds, or "instant money".

         19  From the outset, the Department vigorously pursued

         20  the packaging and advertising of such loans, that

         21  deceived consumers about both the character and the

         22  cost of the services that they were enticed to

         23  purchase, by what were alluring promises of "fast

         24  cash".  The costly strings attached to the cash,

         25  were well hidden. The fact that it wasn't even a
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          2  refund, but instead was a "loan", was obscured.

          3  Thus, without knowing it, consumers were enticed

          4  into paying huge interest rates, as you said,

          5  Chairman, that exceeded 600 percent per year, on

          6  loans that they obtained to speed up a much- needed

          7  tax refund that would have come quickly, at no cost,

          8  and with no interest deducted, on its own.

          9                 The Department's early 1990s phase of

         10  enforcement thus focused on securing Settlement

         11  Agreements, under which tax preparers discontinued

         12  specific promotions that were deemed deceptive under

         13  the City's Consumer Protection Laws, and also

         14  involved some modest fees.

         15                 Starting in 2000, with concerns about

         16  RAL deception still strong, the Department got more

         17  aggressive, focusing Settlement Agreements around

         18  affirmative disclosures that sought to better

         19  explain their nature as a loan to consumers.  Most

         20  notably, in 2003, this Administration achieved a

         21  landmark $4.2 million Settlement Agreement with the

         22  City's largest private tax preparer, calling upon

         23  them to reimburse the most vulnerable of their

         24  clients, those who were EITC, or Earned Income Tax

         25  Credit eligible.
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          2                 The agreement involved $2.7 million

          3  in restitution, $725,000 in fines and costs, and

          4  another $345,000 to support the City's Earned Income

          5  Tax Credit campaign, along with a further commitment

          6  to spend $475,000, to produce their own DCA vetted

          7  EITC materials, which they would distribute.

          8                 The next year, this Agreement served

          9  as a model for an Agreement with the City's second

         10  largest private preparer, for $225,000, that

         11  included $125,000 in fines, and $100,000 for the

         12  EITC promotions.

         13                 As another significant and aggressive

         14  part of this multi- year Agreement, and in what

         15  proved to be a turning point when it came to the

         16  illegal deception phase of RALS in New York City,

         17  and industry relations, generally, the DCA also

         18  secured a three year monitorship of all RAL

         19  advertising and related employee training materials.

         20                 In addition, the Council itself has

         21  played a major role in protecting consumers in this

         22  industry.  This role included barring RALs from

         23  being represented as refunds, and requiring the

         24  disclosure of initial charges  --  of interest

         25  charges, excuse me --  providing for DCA to produce
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          2  and distribute, as you mention, the Consumer Bill of

          3  Rights, regarding tax preparers, and also

          4  strengthening the scope and content of the financial

          5  disclosures to be made about RALs.

          6                 But, with the era of RAL deception

          7  and legal monitorship behind us, the DCA and the

          8  major private tax preparer companies, have taken

          9  this more cooperative, working relationship to the

         10  next level.  These companies have entered into

         11  voluntary agreements with our EITC coalition, by

         12  implementing a coupon program for EITC eligible

         13  taxpayers, who choose not to make use of the

         14  coalition's free tax assistance centers located

         15  throughout the City, which you so graciously

         16  mentioned.

         17                 This coupon does two significant

         18  things.  First, it offer New Yorkers with low

         19  incomes, 50 percent off on tax preparation services,

         20  capping preparation costs at $75.00.

         21                 Second, and we think this is

         22  absolutely key, these companies have agreed that

         23  those making use of this coupon, cannot be offered,

         24  or sold, RALs or other such loan products.

         25                 As I said, we've come a very long way
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          2  when it comes to RALs.  But, much more is yet to

          3  come.  With the launch of DCA's Office of Financial

          4  Empowerment or "OFE", the Department is set to

          5  embark upon a much broader campaign, to not only

          6  better educate consumers about smart tax preparation

          7  products in the EITC itself, but also to mobilize

          8  all the tools necessary to actually guide New

          9  Yorkers with low incomes through the steps needed to

         10  build assets.

         11                 As has been true on a smaller scale

         12  in our EITC campaign, the DCA's OFE will forge

         13  strategic partnerships to focus on increasing

         14  individuals financial capacity, by doing four

         15  things.

         16                 First, identifying and launching

         17  coordinated campaigns, to help New Yorkers get and

         18  save financial resources, such as structured savings

         19  programs like individual development accounts.

         20                 Second, creating strategic

         21  partnerships in the government, non- profit,

         22  financial, and industry sectors to amass and market

         23  a Citywide financial education clearinghouse, to

         24  both centralize financial education and outreach

         25  efforts, and promote best practices in the field.
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          2                 Third, identifying, nurturing, and

          3  honing other empowerment best practices from across

          4  the nation, and, in fact, the globe, with the goal

          5  of bringing those best practices to scale, locally.

          6                 Fourth, saving low- income New

          7  Yorkers from being unfairly targeted by unscrupulous

          8  business practices and products, by enhancing

          9  watchdog protections, including through impact

         10  litigation.

         11                 I'm happy to conclude, that the

         12  Intro. 81's proposed additions to the Consumers Bill

         13  of Rights, regarding tax preparers, are fully in

         14  tune with the Department's emphasis on expanding

         15  consumer awareness of marketplace options.

         16                 Aside from a couple of minor

         17  technical changes, we wholeheartedly support the

         18  enactment of Intro. 81; and I thank you for the

         19  opportunity to comment.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE:  Thank you

         21  Commissioner Mintz, and thank you for being here

         22  today.

         23                 If you would just take the

         24  opportunity to first talk about the EITC roll- out,

         25  and when you're preparing on doing that, and give us
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          2  a  --  just for that persons that may be watching

          3  the later on, or the different time, what that can

          4  actually do for them.

          5                 COMMISSIONER MINTZ:  Yes.  I

          6  appreciate the opportunity.  Thank you.

          7                 If you check your in- box this

          8  morning, I think you'll see an invitation also.  So,

          9  as soon as we all get to our e mails, we'll  --

         10  I'll make good on my promise to have you at the top

         11  of my invite list.

         12                 The Earned Income Tax Credit is a

         13  Federal, State, and also, thanks to the Council, a

         14  City, credit that is  --  that goes to workers with

         15  low incomes.   Generally speaking, if you are a

         16  family making under $38,000, you could be eligible.

         17                 The City's campaign, started by the

         18  Mayor, now this is our fifth season, is the largest

         19  coalition in the Country, that brings together

         20  different groups, that not only distribute

         21  information about the existence of the tax credit

         22  itself, but also provide free tax assistance.  So,

         23  we're urging people in our campaign, which is about

         24  to be kicked off officially, to call 311. The 311

         25  operators are equipped to tell people, not only
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          2  whether they are eligible for the tax credit, but

          3  also where to go for free tax assistance.

          4                 In addition, as I mentioned in my

          5  testimony, the coalition has also negotiated these

          6  coupons for people who choose to bring their

          7  business to private tax preparers, as well, with the

          8  important protections that I mention regarding

          9  refund loans.

         10                 So, it's a great campaign.  There are

         11  approximately, we're told by the IRS, a million New

         12  Yorkers who qualify.  The average return can be as

         13  much as $2,500, and if you missed it in the past,

         14  you can go three years back.  So, this is really

         15  good money.  It's real cash that can make a

         16  difference.

         17                 Thanks for asking.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE:  Thank you.

         19                 And all I have to do is call 311 or

         20  the Department of Consumer Affairs?

         21                 COMMISSIONER MINTZ:  Call 311, or

         22  we're also giving out your home phone number.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE:  You can give it

         24  out.  I get a lot of calls.  In fact, I have to call

         25  the phone company because they still have it down as
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          2  my office number for people that call looking for

          3  me.  For whatever reason, they keep giving them my

          4  home number, as opposed to my office number, which

          5  is 718- 776- 3700.  So, we'll see.

          6                 You said you had a couple of minor

          7  technical issues regarding the Intro., could you

          8  expound on them at this particular time?

          9                 COMMISSIONER MINTZ:  I'm told by the

         10  gifted Mr. Eiler that they are exceedingly

         11  technical.  I think they involve some

         12  capitalizations and, you know, an ellipse or

         13  something like that.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE:  Oh, okay.

         15                 COMMISSIONER MINTZ:  It's nothing

         16  substantive.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE:  Nothing,

         18  nothing.

         19                 COMMISSIONER MINTZ:  Nothing

         20  substantive, I assure you.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE:  Nothing

         22  substantive,  --

         23                 COMMISSIONER MINTZ:  No.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE:  --  Nothing that

         25  changes any of the focus.
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          2                 COMMISSIONER MINTZ:  No.  It looks

          3  good to us.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE:  Okay. Regarding

          5   --  can you talk about the coupons and how the tax

          6  preparers will notify you of actually how many

          7  coupons are used?

          8                 COMMISSIONER MINTZ:  Yes.  One of the

          9  things that we know, is that, despite a really

         10  tremendous coalition, which includes, as I said,

         11  over 60, I believe, free tax assistance centers.  We

         12  can only handle, through that coalition, you know,

         13  20, maybe 25,000 or so people, who are looking to

         14  get their taxes done for free.  We also know that

         15  even if people have the option of getting their

         16  taxes done for free, the truth is, is that most

         17  people get them done through private preparers.

         18  That's why we felt it was important, particularly

         19  starting last year, to work with that industry to

         20  try to get the best deal that we could for people of

         21  lower incomes.  And specifically, to use that

         22  opportunity, and to use, as I said in my testimony,

         23  the new phase of relations with the tax preparer

         24  industry in New York, frankly speaking, to leverage

         25  out these loans.
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          2                 So, the coupon, in essence, says that

          3  it's 50 percent off tax preparation, if you're

          4  making, I believe it's under $40,000, with a cap of

          5  $75.00 on the return.  So, it's a good deal, and

          6  it's a deal that keeps people clear of those loans.

          7                 Your question, more specifically is,

          8  to get a sense of how successful they are.  I think

          9  that our interests are aligned with the industry to

         10  make sure that they are successful.  We would like

         11  people who want to use the services, to use the

         12  coupons, and I'm hoping that, we will be able,

         13  within the bounds of respecting their privacy

         14  regarding business practices, get a sense of how

         15  well it was used.

         16                 Speaking frankly, I don't think that

         17  the coupon was as successful last season as we hoped

         18  it would be, and maybe public exposure of this

         19  opportunity like today, will help it along.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE:  I'm just

         21  concerned that once the constituent gets there, that

         22  the coupon is not the thing that they are being

         23  offered first.  That they're being offered the RALs,

         24  or the other services, and because a lot of these

         25  tax preparers are --  have been around for a long

                                                            19

          1  COMMITTEE ON CONSUMER AFFAIRS

          2  time and have traditional colors, or traditional

          3  establishment in the communities even, that they're

          4  not even thinking about the EITC coupon when they

          5  get there.  Or the individuals that are inside their

          6  facility, that's not the first thing on their

          7  particular mind.

          8                 If there is some kind of way that we

          9  could ask them to at least promise a percentage of

         10  whatever,  I don't know how many out there we're

         11  asked to generate as far as coupons were concerned,

         12  and how many of that is  --  they expected to

         13  return. I mean, that's something we could look into.

         14                 COMMISSIONER MINTZ:  Yes.  That would

         15  be helpful. The coupon, the exposure the coupon has

         16   --  I think I'm correct in saying this  --  is

         17  limitless.  There aren't a limited number of

         18  coupons.  Is that accurate?  They're coded, but I

         19  don't think that it'll ever be a question of whether

         20  somebody can get their hands on the coupon.  I think

         21  they're, if I'm right, the preparers have also

         22  agreed that if people merely mention their awareness

         23  of the

         24  deal  --

         25                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE:  Right.
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          2                 COMMISSIONER MINTZ:  --  I think that

          3  that works as well.  But, but, your suggestions are

          4  helpful.  I appreciate them.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE:  So, we have to

          6  get the awareness level up, as well.  So, you know

          7   --

          8                 COMMISSIONER MINTZ:  Yes.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE:  Council Member

         10  Gioia and I, who couldn't be here today, did a

         11  campaign out in Long Island City, where they have

         12  been very successful working with Food Change and

         13  the East River Development Alliance.  They've

         14  actually generated over $1.5 million dollars so far

         15  in tax returns in the last three years to people

         16  that didn't realize they had that money coming back.

         17

         18                 The opportunity for somebody to get

         19  $2,500 is real. It's not, imagined, it's not an

         20   "iffy" type of thing, it's almost automatic.  And,

         21  so, the more that we can do to get that information

         22  out that you can get money for doing nothing, which

         23  is really unusual, is something that we have to try

         24  to get out throughout the communities.

         25                 COMMISSIONER MINTZ:  Actually, I
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          2  could take it one step further.  Actually making

          3  money for having earned, having earned an income.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE:  That's true.

          5                 COMMISSIONER MINTZ:  You know, and

          6  we've talked about the poverty level; and

          7  unfortunately, the number of people who are still

          8  suffering from the effects of poverty, even though

          9  they're out there working one, two, something three

         10  jobs, this Earned Income Tax Credit, exactly as you

         11  say, really rewards them for that work.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE:  Right.  It

         13  really is  -- they're getting all of their money

         14  back for all of the hard work that they're doing.

         15                 COMMISSIONER MINTZ:  Right.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE:  And these are

         17  the people that are really the underpinnings of our

         18  City.

         19                 What additional steps that we  --

         20  that  --  do you think that there's any reason that

         21  this requirement would overburden tax preparers, per

         22  Intro. 81?

         23                 COMMISSIONER MINTZ:  I don't think

         24  so.  I think there might be some question about the

         25  timing of the distribution of the Taxpayer Bill of
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          2  Rights, which is of no concern to us.  The date  --

          3  there's no magic to the date from our perspective.

          4  The Consumer Bill of Rights is very well

          5  distributed.  We're always happy to do it.  It's,

          6  you know, it's  --  it almost writes itself at this

          7  point, and Intro. 81 will help add something

          8  important, I think.

          9                 No.  I don't see a problem with it,

         10  and I don't see it as inconsistent with, in general,

         11  the industry's willingness to participate in these

         12  kinds of disclosures.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE:  Okay.

         14                 And DCA has the enforcement capacity

         15  to carry out all of the pieces of the legislation to

         16  make sure that it's being enforced properly?

         17                 COMMISSIONER MINTZ:  We enforce the

         18  Consumer Protection Law.  There are ways that we

         19  could enforce it a little bit stronger.  We'll talk

         20  about that over the course of this session.  But, I

         21  think, as I've said in my testimony, I think we made

         22  a very clear impression with the industry back in

         23  2003, and have gotten our point across.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE:  My problem is

         25  that the industry is still using Refund Anticipation
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          2  Loans as a hook, and as a lure. And as you see from

          3  this "You Got People" campaign, you know, they're

          4  making people believe that they can get the loans

          5  quicker, you know, or faster, then if they just wait

          6  and file a W- 2 with electronic filing.  It's the

          7  same amount of time.  Then they're doing a loan on

          8  top of actual --  a direct reimbursement from the

          9  Federal Government, and they wind up paying these

         10  ridiculous rates for loans that they don't really

         11  actually need to take out at all, if they could just

         12  wait until their W- 2s come out.  It's just  -- it's

         13  vexing to me that these campaigns are so popular and

         14  palatable, because, you know, the effective marking

         15  that they do through slick ad campaigns, and I just

         16   --  you know, it  --  I would like to see them

         17  eliminated from the opportunities altogether, and

         18  just be tied into  -- I don't see any real reason

         19  for a Refund Anticipation Loan that's being

         20  disguised under the guise that you're going to get

         21  an early tax refund.  I think that the industry is

         22  doing the public a real disservice.  It's a legal

         23  ripoff in no uncertain terms. And I just hope that,

         24  you know, we can further push to get the industry to

         25  eliminate it, especially with electronic filing,
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          2  when you can get your tax return as quick, or

          3  quicker, than every before.

          4                 COMMISSIONER MINTZ:  You're singing

          5  my song.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE:  All right.

          7  Well, I'm  --

          8                 COMMISSIONER MINTZ:  I'm singing your

          9  song.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE:  I'm in a singing

         11  mood at the moment.  We'll see.

         12                 Do you think that there are any

         13  benefits that the public gets from Refund

         14  Anticipation Loans, at all?  Is it, I

         15  mean,  --

         16                 COMMISSIONER MINTZ:  Well, let me go

         17  off message for a moment and say, I think one cannot

         18  deny that there is a real allure for people to take

         19  advantage of products which you or I would not

         20  consider to be particularly smart products.  And,

         21  while, as I said, initially our focus was on making

         22  sure that if people were going to purchase an

         23  undesirable product, that at least they knew what

         24  they were buying.  That was our initial focus.

         25                 One of the reasons why I'm so excited
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          2  about the Office of Financial Empowerment, within

          3  the DCA, is, I think it's time to really embed

          4  within government the effort to truly educate people

          5  about how to make smarter choices.

          6                 Now, to more specifically answer your

          7  question, and to make my staff a little nervous,

          8  it's the same way I feel about check cashers.  These

          9  are not smart decision in the way that you or I

         10  sitting at a table would consider to be smart

         11  decisions, but they are nonetheless, often popular.

         12  And I think that one of the things we're looking

         13  forward to in our work with the OFE, is to try as

         14  much as possible, to educate people and provide them

         15  with better options so that they can make smarter

         16  choices, hold on to that hard- earned, precious

         17  money, and actually make it start to work for

         18  themselves by investing them into assets.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE:  Can you  --  I

         20  know the Office of Financial Empowerment is

         21  something that the Mayor talked about in his State

         22  of the City message.  Have you been able to shape it

         23  yet, or is that something that you're going to

         24  report to us at a later time?

         25                 COMMISSIONER MINTZ:  Well, I gave you

                                                            26

          1  COMMITTEE ON CONSUMER AFFAIRS

          2  a little preview, which is part of why I'm here.  I

          3  was delighted to be able to do that.  I literally

          4  have no OFE staff at the moment, but I will be

          5  hiring a Director.  I have someone in my sights.

          6  We'll be moving very quickly on this.  We've very

          7  excited.  Obviously we've done a lot of planning

          8  with it, but now we need the staff to actually help

          9  us do it.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE:  Excellent.

         11                 COMMISSIONER MINTZ:  And I would be

         12  most delighted to come back and tell you about it,

         13  anytime.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE:  Great.

         15                 Okay.  I don't have any direct

         16  questions.  I wanted to double check with my two

         17  geniuses to my left here, and make sure that I'm

         18  checking on everything properly.

         19                 I appreciate you coming today and

         20  being here.  And I appreciate your support for

         21  Intro. 81.  And I look forward to working with you

         22  on continuing to further permeate the EITC; and

         23  hopefully, we can get way past the $25,000, you

         24  know, cap this year because that is money that

         25  people deserve and should get without having to take
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          2  a RAL loan or another usury type opportunity to get

          3  money that is theirs, so.

          4                 Commissioner Mintz, thank you for

          5  being here this morning.

          6                 COMMISSIONER MINTZ:  Thank you.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE:  Thank you.

          8                 We have Chris Keeley and Saara

          9  Nafici, are here from NEDAP.  And we have letters

         10  from H&R Block, that were statements submitted, and

         11  also the New York State Society of Enrolled Agents,

         12  Mr. David Silverman, both presented letters to the

         13  Committee to be reviewed.   Mr. Bill (sic) Donohue,

         14  Director, State Government Relations for H&R Block,

         15  submitted a letter, and Mr. Silverman for the New

         16  York State Society of Enrolled Agents.

         17                 If they've changed their minds and

         18  would like to testify, they can let the Committee

         19  know.

         20                 Just for the information, we did

         21  reach out to every major tax preparer in the City to

         22  ask them to attend.  Some did, Jackson Hewitt said

         23  that they were going to attend, and then at the last

         24  minute changed their mind, and as you can see, no

         25  one else has requested to testify.  H&R Block
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          2  thought about testifying, but I'm not sure  --  do

          3  you want to speak later?

          4                 MR. DONOHUE: No. (Speaking from the

          5  audience.)

          6                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: All right. I

          7  mentioned the written testimony.  All right.

          8                 NEDAP, thank you for coming this

          9  morning, and who would like to speak first?

         10                 MR. KEELEY:  My name is Chris Keeley.

         11    I'm Campaign Organizer at NEDAP, the Neighborhood

         12  Economic Development Advocacy Project.

         13                 Thank you Chairman Comrie for hosting

         14  this Hearing and allowing us to speak.

         15                 NEDAP's mission is to promote

         16  community economic justice, and to eliminate

         17  discriminatory, economic practices that harm

         18  communities and perpetuate inequality and poverty.

         19                 We've worked on this issue, Tax

         20  Refund Anticipation Loans, for a number of years.

         21  We've done extensive research, we've done extensive

         22  legislative and regulatory advocacy work at the

         23  City, State and Federal level.  We've also done

         24  extensive corporate accountability work, both with

         25  the tax preparer corporations, as well as the banks
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          2  that are originating these loans.

          3                 In short, NEDAP believes that tax

          4  preparers should be preparing taxes, that they

          5  shouldn't be brokering high-cost loans, that RALs

          6  are bad, and that they should be stopped; and also

          7  that the City Council does have leverage in this

          8  situation.  So, those are the three main things that

          9  we'd like to talk about.

         10                 To back up a little bit, as you

         11  mentioned, the way the RALs work, are, you go into

         12   --  you go into the tax preparer, and you are

         13  required, through this loan, to sign over your

         14  expected tax refund, or expected tax credits.  The

         15  money comes from the IRS then, and goes to the

         16  lending bank, the originating bank.  The bank pulls

         17  out its fees, it sends fees to the tax preparer,

         18  whether that's one of the larger chains, or it's an

         19  independent tax preparer, and then what's left is

         20  then given to the individual taxpayer.  If, however,

         21  the expected tax refund or tax credits don't come

         22  through, let's say that there was a child support

         23  payment, or student loans that weren't accounted for

         24  originally when you went into the office, the

         25  taxpayer is still on the line for that loan.  No
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          2  matter what the dollar amount was for that loan, the

          3  tax preparer is going to pull out its fees, the bank

          4  is going to pull out its fees, and you're

          5  responsible for the entire loan amount, and then the

          6  debt process can then begin with collections calls,

          7  and reporting to the credit agencies.

          8                 Through our research we've found that

          9  RALs target very specific taxpayers walking into

         10  these storefront operations. That they're targeting,

         11  very specifically, low- income New Yorkers, many of

         12  which are claiming the Earned Income Tax Credit.  We

         13  filed a report  --  we published a report, which you

         14  cited at the beginning, last year, that, as you

         15  said, the neighborhoods most directly affected and

         16  hit hardest by these loans were 95

         17  percent  --  over 95 percent Black or Hispanic

         18  neighborhoods in New York City.

         19                 Saara Nafici is going to walk us

         20  through a few of the maps that she's prepared.  Keep

         21  in mind, all this information is directly from IRS

         22  data.  So, I'll hand it to Saara.

         23                 MS. NAFICI:  So, thank you again for

         24  inviting us to speak.

         25                 To take a step back, we want to try
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          2  and understand how RALs have an impact on New York

          3  as a whole, and on New York communities.

          4                 So, the first thing we did, using IRS

          5  data and sensus data,  --

          6                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE:  Why don't you

          7  have your colleague hold a map and then just, yes,

          8  angle it so that it can be caught in --

          9                 MS. NAFICI:  Okay.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE:  Thank you.  All

         11  right.  That way you can, --

         12                 MS. NAFICI:  Absolutely.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE:  --  You know,

         14  right.

         15                 MS. NAFICI:  So everyone can see.

         16                 We wanted to get a sense of where

         17  RALs are being made in the City.  Is this the same

         18  problem everywhere, or is it concentrated?  So, we

         19  looked at what percentage of the tax returns being

         20  filed had a RAL associated with it.

         21                 So, if you look in the darkest areas,

         22  the darkest purple, that shows that 20 percent or

         23  more of the income taxes filed there, the returns

         24  also had a RAL.  So, we're looking at South Bronx,

         25  we're looking at Central Brooklyn, Southeast Queens,
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          2  Far Rockaway, a little bit of Staten Island.  That

          3  means, one out of every five tax returns there, also

          4  had a RAL.

          5                 And, also, I wanted to point out the

          6  diagonal lines across these zip codes indicate 50

          7  percent or more of the population is Black or

          8  Latino.  So, it's pretty striking that the darkest

          9  parts of the purple also have those diagonal lines.

         10  What does that mean?  That means, RALs are being

         11  more disproportionately made in communities of

         12  color.

         13                 We have a similar map that we made of

         14  the fees.  So, how much money is being spent on

         15  RALs, and where is that being spent?  It's a

         16  remarkably similar map.  You can see that the

         17  darkest brown indicates $1 million or more is being

         18  paid for RALs in 2005.  So, the darkest brown there,

         19  that's South Bronx, again, that's Central Brooklyn,

         20  Southeast Queens, and Far Rockaway, once again.

         21                 So, it's not just that, oh we get a

         22  sense that Jackson Hewitt, and H&R Block are

         23  racially targeting these loans because of their ad

         24  campaigns, it's also in the maps.  We can see it in

         25  the data, visually, it's very striking that, again,
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          2  these diagonal lines are on the same areas where

          3  there is the darkest concentration of money paid.

          4  And, in 2005, this is about $75 million that was

          5  siphoned out of these communities, and

          6  particularly  --

          7                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE:  Say that number

          8  again.

          9                 MS. NAFICI:  $75 million in 2005.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE:  And that's just

         11  in fees and services  --

         12                 MS. NAFICI:  Right.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE:  --  And

         14  application fees  --

         15                 MS. NAFICI:  Absolutely.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE:  --  And

         17  processing fees.

         18                 MS. NAFICI:  And  --

         19                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE:   And none of

         20  those dollars came back to the consumer.

         21                 MS. NAFICI:  Exactly.  And I feel

         22  like, that, a lot of people in these neighborhoods

         23  can think of a better way to spend that $75 million,

         24  that will actually help, and build, and strengthen

         25  the community instead of siphoning out, going into
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          2  the pocket of the tax preparers and the banks.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE:  That's $75

          4  million that is directly attributed to the consumer.

          5    It's their money,  --

          6                 MS. NAFICI:  Absolutely.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE:  --  But it just

          8  winds up being given to the tax preparer above and

          9  beyond any normal fee that they would charge.  Okay.

         10                 MS. NAFICI:  So, I'm going to pass it

         11  back to Chris, who's going to go through some

         12  recommendations.

         13                 MR. KEELEY:  Right.  I just did a

         14  quick count there while Saara was speaking, and it

         15  looks like there's at least 23 zip codes that have

         16  over $1 million in New York City.  That's 23 zip

         17  codes with over $1 million.

         18                 It's also important to note that

         19  these are fees paid in 2005 for 2004 taxes.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE:  Yes.

         21                 MR. KEELEY:  So, that means they are

         22  walking into the store, you know, January to April,

         23  2005.

         24                 These loans are being made through,

         25  as you said, legal loopholes, that allow the  --
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          2  that allow the nationally charted banks, partnering

          3  with the tax preparation firms, whether that's the

          4  bigger chain tax preparations or the smaller, you

          5  know, mom and pop shops on the corner, that these

          6  are being made, as you said, anywhere from 40 to 700

          7  percent.

          8                 New York State's criminal usury cap

          9  on small loans is 25 percent; but, through these

         10  legal loopholes, these loans are being made, these

         11  loans are being made here, and we think that there

         12  is, as I mentioned earlier, we think that there is

         13  leverage that the Committee and the Council, that

         14  the Council could apply.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE:  You want to

         16  explain  --

         17                 MR. KEELEY:  Yes.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE:  --  What you

         19  think the leverage is.

         20                 MR. KEELEY:  One of the strongest

         21  things that we think you could do, is, applying

         22  pressure to the regulator of national banks,

         23  applying pressure to the Internal Revenue Service,

         24  that as one advocacy organization puts is, provides

         25  a subsidy to the tax refund anticipation lending
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          2  industry, through offering an ad hoc credit check,

          3  if you will, for student loans, and child support

          4  payments, that the tax preparers and the banks can

          5  send, almost an e- mail to the IRS to see if there's

          6  outstanding debt.   At least one advocacy

          7  organization, The National Consumer Loss Center,

          8  refers to that as a subsidy to this industry.

          9                 The IRS hasn't expressed  --  has

         10  expressed disinterest in doing this, but we think

         11  that that would be one step  --  that' one powerful

         12  step that the IRS could take.

         13                 Applying pressure, as I said, to the

         14  Comptroller of the currency, they're the regulator

         15  for these nationally chartered banks.  The Federal

         16  Reserve could also apply pressure to these banks

         17  that are originating these loans.

         18                 Also, forming a critical mass of

         19  elected officials at the City, State, and Federal

         20  level, from New York, and saying with a "united

         21  voice", that New Yorkers are against these high-

         22  cost loans.  Siphoning $75 million in one year

         23  alone, that's three and a half months  --  over

         24  three and a half months, $75 million.

         25                 What we're worried about now is the
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          2  next version of these loans that are coming out now,

          3  Paystub Loans. The advertisements that are up here,

          4   "I got $1,500 today without my   W- 2".  We see

          5  that as a way, what was a tax season  --  what was a

          6  marketing season of three and a half months from

          7  January to April 15th, through these loans, now that

          8  three and a half month marketing season is becoming

          9  five and a half months.

         10                 So, if it was $75 million in 2005,

         11  how much more is it going to be now that these

         12  loans, in effect, you're going to be able to take

         13  out one in November or December and then in effect,

         14  refinance it during the tax season to pay it off.

         15                 And we won't be able to gather these

         16  similar types of numbers because the IRS provides

         17  this information during the tax season.  But, before

         18  the tax season, it's going to be much, much harder

         19  to quantify how it's affecting New York's

         20  communities.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE:  But don't you

         22  find that most of the people wind up not being able

         23  to payoff the loan, even when they refinance?  They

         24  wind up getting into a negative loan cycle with

         25  their RALs, because, if they're taking a loan to  --
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          2  Paystub Loan, and they're getting fees and services

          3  for that and then they're taking a RAL with fees and

          4  services for that, that cuts into anywhere up to 50

          5  percent of their original loans; and if the tax

          6  preparer, as you said earlier, doesn't do a full

          7  check on the person's consumer debt, they may wind

          8  up not even getting a tax return because of other,

          9  you know, college loans, or other indebtedness that

         10  the IRS may be holding onto them.  And then, that

         11  person winds into a continual debt cycle that they

         12  can't get out of.  Have you gotten constituents that

         13  have come to you that have wound up going bankrupt

         14  as opposed to these Payday Loans that they're doing?

         15                 MR. KEELEY:  The Paystub Loans that

         16  we've seen so far, the borrowers that we've spoken

         17  with, and that other organizations that we work

         18  with, have spoken with, we haven't heard of that

         19  yet.  But, as we  --  what I didn't say about these

         20  loans is that this is the first year that they're

         21  being offered to this scale, these Paystub Loans.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE:  Right.

         23                 MR. KEELEY:  Last year it was offered

         24  just by Jackson Hewitt, which has about 6,000

         25  franchise offices across the country.  This year
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          2  it's Jackson Hewitt's 6,000, H&R Block's about

          3  12,000, and Liberty Tax Preparer, which is 2,000.

          4  So, that's 20,000 tax preparer offices this year, as

          5  opposed to 6,000 last year.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE:  Right.

          7                 MR. KEELEY:  Not to mention the

          8  independent tax preparers.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE:  Right.  But,

         10  isn't this Paystub Loan sort of like the Payday

         11  Loans and it's the same rates, the same usury rates,

         12  using national banks as a cover.  And did you

         13  mention  --  you mentioned contacting the Federal

         14  Reserve, could you expound on that a little bit

         15  more, on what you think they could do with these

         16  national banks, to eliminate their desire to do

         17  these --  to underwrite these kinds of loans.

         18                 MR. KEELEY:  Absolutely.

         19                 The Federal Reserve, and the Office

         20  of the Comptroller of the Currency, what they might

         21   --  what they could do, is, issue advisories, or

         22  they could issue "Cease and Desist" letters to the

         23  banks originating these loans.  We saw it with the

         24  FDIC in the Payday Loans situation that they issued

         25   "Cease and Desist" letters, that they just clamped
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          2  down because these can be seen as safety and

          3  soundness issues, reputational risk issues, to the

          4  banks.  We believe that the Federal Reserve, and the

          5  Comptroller of the Currency, that they do have

          6  leverage, and the Payday Loan example, as you said,

          7  it  --  there is an analogous argument there.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE:  Okay.  Great.

          9                 MR. KEELEY:  One thing that we would

         10  also like to stress, is that while consumer

         11  education and disclosure  --  we do support the

         12  Consumer Bill of Rights, as it stands, but, we also

         13  believe that disclosure and public education are not

         14  enough.  That these are two very important steps

         15  that must be taken in the meantime; but, that going

         16  through regulatory and legislative channels are much

         17    --  and legislative channels that will shut it off

         18  at the source, with the banks, that we believe those

         19  are the -  those are the strongest ways to leverage

         20  pressure.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE:  And the best

         22  long- term solutions.

         23                 MR. KEELEY: Absolutely.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE:  Does NEDAP do

         25  income tax prep. Or do you refer people to Food
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          2  Change sites, or the other sites?

          3                 MR. KEELEY:  Right.  We refer out to

          4  other organizations.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE:  Do you prepare

          6   --  do you train tax preparers at all to do work at

          7  those sites?

          8                 MR. KEELEY:  No.  Most of our work is

          9  centered around community organizations.  So, we do

         10  support work for their advocacy efforts.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE:  Okay.  You hand

         12  out the EITC credits information to people that come

         13  into you office, as well?

         14                 MR. KEELEY:  When we do community

         15  trainings, we make sure that we have plenty of

         16  information about the Earned Income Tax Credit,

         17  about phone numbers where they can get free taxes

         18  done, like you said, with the  --  whether it's

         19  through DCA, the IRS Vita Sites, Food Change, ARP,

         20  ACORN, there's a number of organizations doing them.

         21    So we just have all of the 800 numbers and the

         22  websites on one piece of paper.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE:  Right. Okay.

         24                 What other additional steps do you

         25  think that we might be able to take to assist
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          2  consumers with these issues?

          3                 MR. KEELEY:  Really, I think the

          4  strongest thing that we've found at NEDAP that City

          5  Council would be able to do, is using the "bully

          6  pulpit", as it is, you know.  Rallying City, State,

          7  and Federal troops to say New York  --  New York is

          8  opposed to these high- cost, abusive loans.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE:  I agree with you

         10  with doing the bully pulpit, and I'm going to do

         11  everything I can to at least have two or three more

         12  opportunities to bring members together to talk

         13  about this issue.

         14            As I said in the beginning, we have a

         15  Democratic Caucus meeting, so, members are  --  this

         16  is actually a small Committee, we only have five

         17  members on the Committee, which is a good thing,

         18  normally, but, for me anyway.  But, all of the

         19  members are on other Committees at the moment.  A

         20  member Chairing a Committee meeting next door, and

         21  two other members were downstairs.  We're going to

         22  try and get them so that they can be at least more

         23  present.  But, I'm going to do everything I can to

         24  do some more opportunities for community outreach.

         25  In fact, on Sunday, at Noon, we're going to have a
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          2  press conference here at City Hall just talking

          3  about another consumer ripoff issue, and we'll be

          4  talking about this again.

          5                 MR. KEELEY:  We will see you here for

          6  that --

          7                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE:  Okay thanks.

          8                 MR. KEELEY:  --  Press conference on

          9  Sunday, because, like you, we see this in a broader

         10  array of products.

         11                 And one other thing I think that the

         12  City Council could do, is, at the State level, this

         13  week, there was a hearing for the State Comptroller,

         14  and Assemblymen from the Bronx asked if one of the

         15  possible Comptrollers, if he  --  where he stood on

         16  this RALs issue, and would he consider divesting

         17  State funds from companies that do -- that make

         18  these loans or facilitate these loans.  We think

         19  that's another strong step  --

         20                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE:  That's a strong

         21  step.

         22                 MR. KEELEY:  --  That the City could

         23  be able to  -- that the City could take.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE:  Okay. Okay.

         25                 Do you think that there are any other
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          2  disclosure provisions that may be helpful, or needed

          3  to be added to the Consumer Bill of Rights?

          4                 MR. KEELEY:  We think that it's

          5  written strongly, yes.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE:  Great.  All

          7  right.

          8                 I'm just writing that last one down,

          9  about getting the Comptroller to work to remove

         10  monies from businesses that are using RALs. All

         11  right.

         12                 Is there anything else that you

         13  wanted to share with us this morning?

         14                 MR. KEELEY.  No. Thank You.  Thank

         15  you for the opportunity.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE:  Thank you for

         17  being here, and coming out today.

         18                 MS. NAFICI:  Thank you Chairman

         19  Comrie.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE:  As I said

         21  earlier, we do have letters from H&R Block and from

         22  The New York State Society of Enrolled Agents,

         23  regarding the Consumer Bills of Rights, asking us to

         24  look to change a couple of Sections, in their belief

         25  that they don't think that the timeline would be
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          2  enough to give their offices the opportunity to

          3  ensure that the Consumer Bills of Rights is

          4  distributed through their offices.  And, as I look

          5  through this, since they didn't want to testify,

          6  unless you changed your mind, I'll give you one last

          7  chance to  --  okay, sure.

          8                 You want to identify your name for

          9  the record.

         10                 MR. DONOHUE:  Brian Donohue, Director

         11  of State Government Relations for H&R Block.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE:  Thank you for

         13  being here Mr. Donohue.

         14                 You're summary of concerns, you're

         15  saying that you'd like the date to be moved from

         16  October 15th, and not November 15th?

         17                 MR. DONOHUE:  We're close to 200

         18  offices.  We've talked to DCA, and they did not seem

         19  to think that was a problem. We want to make sure

         20  that we've got the time to get the translations done

         21  right, get it printed, and get it distributed to the

         22  offices on time.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE:  But, once the

         24  Consumer Bills of Rights are developed, it's going

         25  to be permanent, it would only change  --
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          2                 MR. DONOHUE:  Unless there's a change

          3  within that year.  So, what we're asking is, for

          4  them to make a decisions and get it up on their

          5  website by October 15th, so we can pull it down,

          6  turn it into the paperwork that we need to hand out

          7  to our clients.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE:  Isn't most of

          9  your services done over the web, at this particular

         10  point.

         11                 MR. DONOHUE:  I don't know.  I can't

         12  answer that.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE:  Okay. Did you

         14  have  --

         15                 MR. DONOHUE:  The other concern we

         16  had was with Section 5b.  I'd like to say we support

         17  complete disclosures, and on all the loans that we

         18  make, we go through all the options with the client,

         19  starting with keeping 100 percent of your tax

         20  return. And we go through, if you file with the IRS,

         21  and you get your check, and then we go through all

         22  the options all the way down to the RAL loans.  This

         23  year, as I'm sure you're aware, we have launched a

         24  new RAL loan program where we've lowered our loans

         25  to 36 percent, the lowest in the industry.  We have
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          2  tied those loans to debit cards, to savings

          3  accounts, and to IRAs.  There are no set- up fees,

          4  there are no monthly fees.

          5                 What we are trying to do is reach out

          6  to the people and bring them into the banking

          7  system.  Over 40 percent of the people that take

          8  RALs, do not have banking relationships.  So,

          9  therefore, the timelines that are being quoted, are

         10  not accurate. If you have a savings account, or

         11  checking account, you can get a tax return within 11

         12  to 12 days.  But, if you don't have an account,

         13  you're looking at 15 to 22 days.  So, what we've

         14  done is we've hitched up a debit card to this.  And

         15  with the debit card they get to get around all the

         16  check cashing fees, which they experience every

         17  week, not just at tax time.

         18                 I'd also like to just talk about the

         19  rates.  I hear that we have extremely high rates of

         20  interest.  And let's just take a Refund Anticipatory

         21  Loan for $1,500.  At 36 percent, which sounds high,

         22  it comes out to $16.09.  Okay.  That's the interest.

         23    It's an 11 or 12 day loan.  You're making us state

         24  it as an annual percentage rate.  But, it is a

         25  simple- interest loan.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE:  What --  what

          3  bank underwrites these loans?

          4                 MR. DONOHUE:  Our partners is HSBC.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE:  And how come

          6  you're not doing them within the State, so that they

          7  can meet the interest caps that are dictated by New

          8  York State, as opposed to the 36 percent that's done

          9  now?

         10                 MR. DONOHUE:  That's an excellent

         11  question.  We have got 12,500 offices.  We're in all

         12  50 states.  So, we need a banking relationship that

         13  we can take to all 50 states.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE:  But HSBC is

         15  chartered in New York City  --  New York State.

         16                 MR. DONOHUE:  It's a national bank,

         17  and, therefore, they can charge, basically, whatever

         18  rates the market will bear. We have negotiated with

         19  them down to a 36 percent.  Our competition is much

         20  higher.  The smaller tax preparers are even higher

         21  than that.  And I would submit that's where the

         22  problem is.  That's where the disclosure problems

         23  are, and that's where the interest rate problems

         24  are.  They are not with the national chains.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE:  And, you're
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          2  saying today that you don't charge an application

          3  fee or processing fee?

          4                 MR. DONOHUE:  I can give you a

          5  complete fee.  If you take a Refund Anticipation

          6  Loan, the fee to set that up is $29.95.           CHAIRPERSON

          7  COMRIE:  Yes.

          8                 MR. DONOHUE:  Okay.  The 36 percent

          9  interest rate, that's a flat interest rate, for all

         10  our loans, if you go into one of the  --  if you

         11  take it in a debit card, put it into a savings

         12  account, or put it in an IRA.  That total fee comes

         13  out to $46.04.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE:  Okay.

         15                 MR. DONOHUE:  Now, I'd like you to

         16  compare that to a return check charge.  You're

         17  looking at $35.00 for a return check charge.  We're

         18  making an unsecured loan for $1,500 and charging you

         19  $46.00 total.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE:  But the loan is

         21  not unsecured. You're guaranteed the money back from

         22  the IRS.

         23                 MR. DONOHUE:  That's not  --  with

         24  all respect, that isn't true.  The IRS, they can

         25  withhold it for different reasons, as was pointed
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          2  out earlier.  They may have other liens against him,

          3  or they may have a problem with the tax return.  In

          4  most cases, it does come through.

          5                 We were also heard earlier today,

          6  that we are targeting neighborhoods.  I would like

          7  to say that we've got our preseason loans, and our

          8  Refund Anticipation Loans, in all 12,500 offices.

          9  We have them in New York, we have them in Beverly

         10  Hills. It's the same loan products available all

         11  around.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE:  Yes.

         13                 MR. DONOHUE:  So, I don't think that

         14  you can say that we are targeting neighborhoods with

         15  this, if we offer it at every single location that

         16  we've got.

         17                 And, again, we have 12,500 locations.

         18  Next to McDonalds and Subway, we've got the most

         19  amount of stores of any company in the Country.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE:  Okay.

         21                 We've been joined by Council Member

         22  John Liu.

         23                 I want to thank you for coming up

         24  this morning.

         25                 Okay.  But according to  --  I
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          2  understand that you have all these offices, and you

          3  offer the program across the Country, but could you

          4  give us a breakdown, since you opened up the can of

          5  worms, on how many offices across the Country take

          6  the Refund Anticipation Loans, is it done  --

          7                 MR. DONOHUE:  All of them. All of

          8  them.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE:  --   On a

         10  percentage wise, at same percentages in Hollywood as

         11  it is done within the South Bronx, that you're

         12  giving Refund Anticipation Loans?

         13                 MR. DONOHUE:  All I can tell you is

         14  that we offer them at all the offices at a straight

         15  36 percent, and at 70 percent.  Okay.  If you want a

         16  check  --

         17                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE:  70 percent?

         18                 MR. DONOHUE:  70 percent.  If you

         19  want to take the Refund Loan or an Instant Money

         20  Loan, as a check, we charge you 70 percent.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE:  70 percent of

         22  the total cost of the loan?

         23                 MR. DONOHUE:  No.  No.  70 percent,

         24  again, for 11 to 12 days.  Okay.  A $1,500 RAL, at

         25  70 percent, comes out to $17.53.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE:  If it's $16.90

          3  at 36 percent, it's $17.50 at 70 percent?

          4                 MR. DONOHUE:  Again, it's for 11

          5  days, and you're asking us to state it as an annual

          6  percentage rate.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE:  Right.

          8                 MR. DONOHUE:  That's what is causing

          9  the confusion.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE:  And if you don't

         11    --  but the person has 11 days to return that loan

         12  to you, correct?

         13                 MR. DONOHUE:  No.  What we're saying

         14  is that on average, it takes between 10 to 12 days

         15  to get the money back from the IRS.  So that's

         16  really the timeframe of the loan.  It's was 11 to 12

         17  days.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE:  And that money

         19  goes straight to H&R Block, once they give you that

         20  sign- off?

         21                 MR. DONOHUE:  The $29.95, what that

         22  setup fee does, is we open an account, the money is

         23  placed into that account, and then we can close out

         24  the loan with that.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE: And that account
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          2  is under whose sign- off?  Your sign- off, or?

          3                 MR. DONOHUE:  Yes. Our sign- off.

          4                 The reason you probably  --  the next

          5  logical question is, why the 36 percent and why the

          6  70 percent?  We're trying to steer our RAL customers

          7  into banking relationships so they don't have to get

          8  the RAL, year, after year, after year.

          9                 RAL is a product that should be used

         10  for emergencies and on a temporary basis.  The

         11  average person spends $1,000 at Christmas time on

         12  their family.  Those bills start coming due the

         13  third week in January, the first week in February.

         14  It's no coincidence that that's when they come in to

         15  get the RALs.  There is a need for that.  It's a

         16  short- term fix.  It is cheaper than a cash advance,

         17  it is cheaper than a Payday Loan.  So, there is a

         18  benefit; however, if you're doing this, year, after

         19  year, after year, you're not managing your finances

         20  properly.  And what we're trying to do with our

         21  pricing this year for the first time, is steer them

         22  into banking relationships.  The average person

         23  without a checking account, spends close to $600 a

         24  year in check cashing fees.  You can take this debit

         25  card that you get from H&R Block, have your payroll
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          2  directly deposited into it, and get around check

          3  cashing fees.  We can split the deposit, we can give

          4  you it in a debit card and in a saving account.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE:  So, you're

          6  creating your own debit cards now?

          7                 MR. DONOHUE:  Yes.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE:  Or is it

          9  underwritten by HSBC or H&R Block?

         10                 MR. DONOHUE:  Yes.  We now have H&R

         11  Block Bank and we work with HSBC on those.  But, we

         12  are reaching out to the unbanked to try to break the

         13  cycle, and at the same time, the reason we chose 36

         14  percent for the RAL rate, is because we have worked

         15  with consumer organizations, and they told us this

         16  is where you need to be.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE:  So, are you

         18  charging people usage fees for when they use their

         19  debit card?

         20                 MR. DONOHUE:  There is not a setup

         21  fee, there is not a monthly fee, there is not a

         22  minimum fee.  They will get a fee from the ATM

         23  machine when they take a cash advance, but that is a

         24  low fee.  We've tried to eliminate as many of the

         25  fees as possible; and again, bring them into the
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          2  banking system.  We're the first major financial

          3  institution to reach out to the unbanked with this

          4  product line.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE:  Okay.

          6                 So, you're saying that when a person

          7  goes to take out $40.00, out of the ATM, they just

          8  have to pay the $2.00 ATM fee?

          9                 MR. DONOHUE:  Like you and I do.

         10  Correct.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE:  And that there's

         12  no monthly fee to them holding that?

         13                 MR. DONOHUE:  That is correct.  And

         14  no setup fee. And unlike some of our competitors

         15  that have these debit cards, that they close them

         16  for you in July, ours will stay open as long as you

         17  use it, because what we're trying to do is reach out

         18  to the unbanked.  We have worked with the

         19  organizations here in New York and other places,

         20  very closely to respond to what you are hearing, to

         21  respond to some of the complaints.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE:  Yes.

         23                 MR. DONOHUE:  But  --  so, if we are

         24  targeting  -- we're targeting with these products.

         25  We're targeting to help them out, and we're not
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          2  using legal loopholes to do it.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE:  Okay.

          4                 How many EITC credits did you have

          5  last year?

          6                 MR. DONOHUE:  I apologize.  I tried

          7  to get that information for you, but, we were not

          8  able to.  I can supply that to your office at a

          9  later date, but it is substantial.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE:  Okay.

         11  Appreciate that.

         12                 Do you know how many you anticipate

         13  doing this year, or what  --  if there's a number or

         14  a target that you have planned to do.  You could

         15  inform us of that also.

         16                 MR. DONOHUE:  Yes.  We do have some

         17  programs.  We're partnering with New York City.

         18  We've already talked about it.  The coupon programs

         19  and other programs that we're very proud of, and

         20  that we are reaching out.  I'm not sure if they have

         21  set a goal on those or not, but we're working with

         22  them to making sure that as many people as possible

         23  know about the EITC, because it is very valuable for

         24  these communities.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE:  Okay.
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          2                 So, you're stating today that you

          3  believe that your program, the Paystub Program, you

          4  feel is beneficial to people because it's a lower

          5  interest rate than is being charged by other

          6  programs.  Correct?

          7                 MR. DONOHUE:  If you look at all the

          8  options that an individual has out there, especially

          9  the lower- income individuals, we think these are

         10  fairly priced.  Some are higher, some are lower, but

         11  we think they are fairly priced.

         12                 A lot of the information that has

         13  been stated here today, and is on the record, is

         14  based on research that has been done in 2003, 2004,

         15  2005.  We're now, by lowering these interest rates,

         16  and coming out with the new products, has really

         17  changed the product.  We have not done a very good

         18  job in getting our message out, as is exactly what

         19  we are trying to do.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE:  Okay.

         21                 Well, so you're saying that because

         22  your product has a lower interest rate, or interest

         23  rate that you think is fair, you think it's a better

         24  product?  Do you have any type of statistics on

         25  defaults in this particular program yet, that you
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          2  can share with us?

          3                 MR. DONOHUE:  No.  I don't have

          4  those.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE:  But you would be

          6  willing to share that once you get the information?

          7                 MR. DONOHUE:  What I'd like to do is

          8   --  is, I'd like to say, I'll take that response to

          9  our Legal Department and ask them if we're legally

         10  allowed to turn over that information. We are

         11  publicly traded company, and there is information

         12  that  -- because we are a publicly traded company,

         13  that everyone has to have access to.  So, I'm also

         14  relatively new to H&R Block, so let me find out

         15  exactly what I am able to turn over.  But, I'll take

         16  your --  I'll certainly take your request in.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE:  Are you here

         18  from D.C. or you're in New York?

         19                 MR. DONOHUE:  I came from Washington

         20  today.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE:  You came from

         22  Washington. Okay.

         23                 All right.  I'll just  --  And how do

         24  you give the clients the breakdown of their concerns

         25  and opportunities?  Do you give it to them in

                                                            59

          1  COMMITTEE ON CONSUMER AFFAIRS

          2  writing, or is it verbally?

          3                 MR. DONOHUE:  We do both.  We do it

          4  in writing, and we do it on the tax screen.  The

          5  actual loan form  --

          6                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE:  I'm sorry, I

          7  just need to say that Councilmen Jim Gennaro stopped

          8  by.  He's Chairing another meeting.  Sorry, Mr.

          9  Donohue, but for the record we have to note that he

         10  was in the room for a couple of minutes.  Thank you,

         11  Jim.

         12                 MR. DONOHUE:  The actual loan

         13  application that a client signs, has the word "loan"

         14  or "RAL" appearing over 100 times.  I'm going to

         15  show you from across the room, is there any question

         16  that this is a loan document that you're signing?

         17  Would you have any question on that?

         18                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE:  That's the

         19  actual document that all of them sign?  But, that's

         20  a new document that was prepared for this season.

         21  Correct?

         22                 MR. DONOHUE:  No.  This is the HSBC

         23  loan application.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE:  Yes.

         25                 MR. DONOHUE:  Okay.  We go through a
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          2  five- step disclosure process, where we go over all

          3  the options with the client before we even start the

          4  paperwork.  We go over options talking about if you

          5  have a tax refund, or if you get EITC,

          6  this  --  these are your options.  You can get a

          7  paper IRS Return, you can file it by mail, you get

          8  100 percent of it, this is the timeframe.  We can e-

          9  file it for you with no bank account, this is the

         10  timeframe.  We can e- file it for you, if you have a

         11  checking account, this is the timeframe.  And then

         12  we'll go into the loan products, if you need it

         13  earlier for an emergency reason, we will show you

         14  the RALs, we will show you the instant RALs.  So,

         15  you will see all the options, and we always start

         16  with the option where you get to keep 100 percent of

         17  your IRS money.  And, again, it's a five- step

         18  disclosure process, and we are more than happy to

         19  put anymore  --  the disclosures that you're

         20  proposing, on top of this. But, I would like to

         21  point out, if you've got somebody leaving with all

         22  these disclosures, are you really benefitting the

         23  consumer. You can give them too much to read. And I

         24  would act  --

         25                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE:  The question is

                                                            61

          1  COMMITTEE ON CONSUMER AFFAIRS

          2  not whether you're giving them too much to read,

          3  it's a question of whether you're giving them the

          4  option that is most cost efficient for them. At, you

          5  know, to my mind, and you know I appreciate your

          6  being here and coming up to speak, but, to my mind,

          7  if a person's coming to you, they're already coming

          8  to you in a desperate situation, nine times out of

          9  ten; because, as you said earlier, they spent

         10  probably too much during Christmas season, they need

         11  to be able to do a bridge loan to pay  --  payoff

         12  those debts, they have other debts that are due.

         13  So, they're going to take the most  --  the simplest

         14  option, or the easiest option, as opposed to an

         15  option with the longest timeframe, because they're

         16  under pressure to meet certain financial demands.

         17                 MR. DONOHUE:  Yes.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE:  My concern is

         19  that the option with the easiest demands on them is

         20  also always the most expensive option, as --

         21                 MR. DONOHUE:  I would agree.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE:  --  Opposed to

         23  the least  -- the most cost- efficient option, and

         24  while I applaud your new desire to create a banking

         25  situation for them, and I, you know, especially want
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          2  to point out that it's good that you're offering

          3  them no setup fees, and no monthly fees.  I still

          4  think that it's a win- win for the company, because

          5  then you're creating a new market and controlling

          6  that market to some degree.  So, my overall --

          7                 MR. DONOHUE:  And I would agree with

          8  that.  I think that's an excellent point.  What

          9  we're trying to do is maintain profitability, and at

         10  the same time, reach out to our clients and

         11  providing a benefit.  We are not a charity, and

         12  we're not a bottom feeder that's out to take all

         13  their money.  We're trying to reach a compromise

         14  between the two, getting a product that brings

         15  benefit, that is fairly priced, and that answers a

         16  need, especially the need to the lower- income

         17  clients that we've got.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE:  Well, but, you

         19  would appreciate the desire to bring those rates

         20  down at least to New York State standards, and

         21  that's my concern, that when a person goes in to H&R

         22  Block with an HSBC tie- in, and they're a New York

         23  State resident, they believe they're getting the New

         24  York State numbers, but actually they're getting

         25  national numbers or the numbers that you have felt
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          2  would be competitively priced in the market.  My

          3  desire as a Legislator is to make sure that, not

          4  just your organization, but all organizations that

          5  are doing tax prep., or RALs, or complying with a

          6  lower standard.  I can appreciate, you know, what

          7  you shared with us today, and I think it's actually

          8   -- I'm heartened by the fact that H&R Block has

          9  studied this, clearly, and found a niche in the

         10  market.  But, I would still hope that, you know,

         11  those people that come to you in a desperate

         12  situation nine times out of ten, could at least get

         13  the rates that are being charged by any New York

         14  State consumer,  --

         15                 MR. DONOHUE:  Yes.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE:  --  On a New

         17  York State product.

         18                 MR. DONOHUE:  Again, one point I

         19  would like to emphasize.  The interest rate is not

         20  an H&R Block interest rate. It's the bank interest

         21  rate.  Okay.  We don't set  --  we can try to

         22  negotiate it, but in the final analysis, it's the

         23  national bank that makes the loan, and it's their

         24  interest rate.  So, you cannot say, you know, that

         25  36 percent is the H&R Block Refund Anticipation
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          2  interest rate.  It's really the HSBC Bank interest

          3  rate.  It is not the H&R  --  and I would just like

          4  to make that clear within your mind.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE:  I'm clear.  I

          6  just want it to be the HSB bank based and chartered

          7  in New York State as opposed to the HSB bank based

          8  and chartered nationally.  That's where the problem

          9  comes in.  I mean, you're doing it at a rate that's

         10  lower than some, and, I'm, you know, not arguing

         11  that, but there are, as you stated, also, many other

         12  groups that are charging, you know, either the RALs

         13  or the Paystub Loans, or the antic  --  what's the

         14  third category, the Checkstub Loans, you know, at

         15  much higher rates.  Because, again, you know, a New

         16  York State resident comes into a New York State

         17  business thinking they're going to get a New York

         18  State rate, but they wind up doing it at a national

         19  rate, and I think that's problematic.

         20                 But, again, you know, I really

         21  appreciate your being here today, Mr. Donohue, and

         22  asking (sic) the questions.  You've enlightened us

         23  to the fact that H&R Block has actually tried to do

         24  some things a little bit better.  But I still hope

         25  that you can continue to press the envelope as you
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          2  have been so far.

          3                 I want to thank you for coming up and

          4  stepping up to testify, and sharing that with us,

          5  because it has definitely enlightened us this

          6  morning to your program.  I really appreciate your

          7  being here.

          8                 MR. DONOHUE:  And, if your staff

          9  needs any information, any research, any help with

         10  research on the industry, we stand ready to help,

         11  because we think the Consumer Bill of Rights, is on

         12  the right track, and we're happy to comply with it.

         13  We applaud your efforts.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE:  Well, since you

         15  opened that door, who do you think is the worst

         16  player in the industry at this particular time?

         17                 MR. DONOHUE:  The national chains,

         18  like any business, are great targets for lawsuits.

         19  So, therefore, they tend to be cleaner.  We've got,

         20  you know, compliance people, we've got compliance

         21  people for our compliance people.  We've got lawyers

         22  for our lawyers, everyone watching each other.

         23                 It is the smaller shops that are

         24  cutting corners. We have heard from some of our

         25  franchisees that, I can't compete with all the rules
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          2  that you're making us accountable for.  And there is

          3  no bending in our offices.  The rules are set, and

          4  we're hearing back, not in New York, but in other

          5  states, that we can't compete.

          6                 There are some smaller shops that are

          7  cutting corners, that are making loans at

          8  astronomical rates, they are not giving the

          9  disclosures, and they are gone by the first week in

         10  February.  So, if your tax return comes back, the

         11  office is closed, the phone rings, there is nobody

         12  to go to, and so we want to hold the industry, the

         13  entire industry, to the highest possible standards

         14  because it's just good business.

         15                 And, so, while I appreciate you

         16  reaching out to some of the larger tax preparers, I

         17  would suggest that next time you have a mix of some

         18  of the lower  --  the smaller tax preparers

         19  that  --

         20                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE:  No.  We reached

         21  out to everybody.   We reached out to the

         22  independent agents.  We reached out to the Society

         23  of Enrolled Agents.  We reached out to the, I forget

         24  the other group of independent agents.  We reached

         25  out to National Organization of Independent Agents.

                                                            67

          1  COMMITTEE ON CONSUMER AFFAIRS

          2  We did quite an extensive outreach, and that's why I

          3  really appreciate you being here because most of the

          4  other players are doing it a lot worse.

          5                 MR. DONOHUE:  If you notice the

          6  advertisements, these are advertisement, not for

          7  RALs but for the preseason loans,  --

          8                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE:  Right.

          9                 MR. DONOHUE:  --  Because we can make

         10  those with a W- 2.  We do have some tax preparers

         11  that claim that they can file a tax return without a

         12  W- 2, and that's illegal according to the IRS.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE:  Correct.

         14                 MR. DONOHUE:  But, again, that's one

         15  of the ways that they can cut corners, let me file

         16  your tax return, without a W- 2; and that's illegal.

         17    We would love to see that stopped.  I'm just not

         18  sure how we can comply  --  how we can get

         19  compliance down there to look at that, because with

         20  the electronic filing now, you don't know if a

         21  person walks in with a W- 2, or if they don't.  A

         22  non- scrupulous tax preparer can say, have the W- 2

         23  checked, electronically file it, and yet they've

         24  never had that.

         25                 We won't do that because our computer

                                                            68

          1  COMMITTEE ON CONSUMER AFFAIRS

          2  system will catch that, and will not allow that to

          3  be electronically filed. So, again, we're trying to

          4  play on a higher standard, so we would like an equal

          5  playing field, so that we can protect our business.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE:  All right.

          7  Thank you. Mr. Donohue.

          8                 MR. DONOHUE:  Thank you Mr. Chairman.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON COMRIE:  Thank you.

         10                 Is there any public testimony?  No.

         11  Okay.

         12                 She's just going to have them fill

         13  out the form.

         14                 All right.  With that I want to call

         15  this hearing to a close.

         16                 Again, I want to thank Guy Cohen,

         17  from my staff, for his efforts to help on Consumer

         18  Affairs, and my two resident geniuses, Thomas

         19  Ferrugia and Brian Sogol, for preparing this

         20  Hearing.  That's my new name for you guys in '07,

         21  since this is the first hearing of '07, and I think

         22  that it's been enlightening.

         23                 I want to thank Commissioner Mintz

         24  for being here, and NEDAP, and also Mr. Donohue from

         25  H&R Block.
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          2                 And, with that, I'll declare the

          3  hearing closed.

          4                 Thank you.

          5                 (The following written testimony was

          6  read into the record.)

          7

          8  WRITTEN TESTIMONY OF:

          9  David J. Silverman, EA

         10  Chairman

         11  Government Relations Committee

         12

         13                 On behalf of the members of the NYS

         14  Society of Enrolled Agents whose members are

         15  licensed to practice before the Internal Revenue

         16  Service, I want to thank The Committee for this

         17  opportunity to make the views of our members known

         18  to the Committee regarding 20-740.1 of the

         19  administrative code of the City of New York -

         20  Consumer Bill of Rights regarding tax preparers.

         21                 Enrolled Agents are licensed to

         22  practice before the Internal Revenue Service

         23  pursuant to Treasury Department Circular 230 (copy

         24  attached).

         25                 Circular 230 governs and regulates
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          2  the practice by Enrolled Agents by mandating a code

          3  of ethics regarding fees, client records, continuing

          4  education, discipline, requirements for admission to

          5  the profession and general conduct, all of which is

          6  overseen by the Treasury Department's Office of

          7  Professional Responsibility.

          8                 Circular 230 addresses in Section

          9  10.27 the issue of fees that the Committee is

         10  seeking to regulate in its revision of the law.

         11  Section 10,27 mandates that unconscionable and

         12  contingent fees cannot be charged nor can a client's

         13  records be held hostage to a fee dispute.  It also

         14  states that a practitioner licensed under Circular

         15  230 "may charge no more than the rate(s) published

         16  under (b)(i) of this section (which deals with the

         17  publication of fees) for at least thirty calendar

         18  days after the last date on which the schedule of

         19  fees was published."  Accordingly, if there is no

         20  fee schedule then the practitioner is limited to

         21  what may be charged.

         22                 I would also like to call the

         23  Committee's attention to the fact that since many of

         24  our members bill at an hourly rate it is not

         25  possible to provide a client with a written estimate
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          2  of their bill as the proposed change would require.

          3  While the proposed changes correctly addresses the

          4  problems caused by unlicensed and unregulated tax

          5  preparers, Enrolled Agents are in no way part of

          6  this problem.

          7                 Since the issues the Committee is

          8  seeking to address in 20- 740.I are already

          9  addressed in Treasury Circular 230, the proposed

         10  changes to the law add an unnecessary administrative

         11  burden to Enrolled Agents in the practice of their

         12  profession. Accordingly, an exemption from Section

         13  20- 740.1 should be provided Enrolled Agents because

         14  the proposed law adds nothing about our profession

         15  that isn't being accomplished by the rules of

         16  conduct as administered by the United State

         17  Department of The Treasury under Circular 230.

         18

         19  Respectfully submitted,

         20  David J. Silverman, EA

         21  Chairman, Government Relations Committee

         22

         23                 (Hearing concluded at 11:55 a.m.)

         24
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          6     COUNTY OF NEW YORK  )
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          9                 I, DIANE STURM, do hereby certify

         10  that the foregoing is a true and accurate transcript

         11  of the within proceeding.

         12                 I further certify that I am not

         13  related to any of the parties to this action by
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